# Alternatives to Secure Care and Custody

Guidance for Local Authorities, Community Planning Partnerships and Service Providers

Young People Who Offend (Managing High Risk and Transitions)

**June 2011** 





## © Crown copyright 2011

You may re-use this information (excluding logos and images) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence, visit http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/ or e-mail: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk.

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

This document is available from our website at www.scotland.gov.uk.

ISBN: 978-1-78045-261-6 (web only)

The Scottish Government St Andrew's House Edinburgh EH1 3DG

Produced for the Scottish Government by APS Group Scotland DPPAS11784 (06/11)

Published by the Scottish Government, June 2011

# **Contents**

	Page No.
Executive Summary	1
1. Introduction	2
2. Definitions	5
3. Legal Requirements	6
4. Literature review	7
5. Core Principles	10
- Service	10
- Workers	19
- Decision Makers	20
6. Working effectively with girls	22
7. Nothing Works?	24
8. Finances	25
9. Conclusion	26
Appendix 1: Working Group Membership	27
Appendix 2: Alternative Services	28
Appendix 3: Pilots	34
Bibliography	37

# **Executive Summary**

A whole system approach involves putting in place a streamlined and consistent planning, assessment and decision making process for young people involved in offending to ensure they receive the right help at the right time. This approach works across all systems and agencies. It brings together Government key policy frameworks into one holistic approach to deal with young people who offend.

As part of the whole system approach, this guidance highlights good practice in relation to alternatives to secure care and custody and the need to promote these wherever possible. The evidence to support the good practice principles is highlighted as well as 'testing' various different approaches in practice through various pilot schemes and examples of effectives services currently available.

The ethos behind this guidance, is not that one approach fits all, but that services should be developed to meet the needs of the child and by following a GIRFEC approach that all agencies should be working in partnership. No young person should be placed in secure care or custody due to local authorities not having appropriate alternative services.

The guidance highlights the core principles that should be included in effective alternative services; the information that should be given to decision makes regardless of what system the young person is in or who is making the decision; and also the requirements of workers involved within these services to be as effective as possible.

By following these recommendations, young people will be better supported by local authorities and community planning partners providing robust alternative services to secure care and custody where appropriate.

Fiona Dyer Professional Advisor Scottish Government

The Scottish Government would like to thank all those who contributed to this quidance/working group. Names are listed at Appendix 1

## 1. Introduction

This guidance is intended to provide an overview of 'good practice' for Local Authorities and community planning partners in relation to alternatives to secure care and custody. Examples of some alternatives services are in appendix 2 and pilot sites to test different alternative services in appendix 3. Throughout the document, links will be provided to associated guidance.

Scotland is internationally renowned for its welfare based response to children and young people who offend, but stands alone as the only western European country to routinely deal with 16 and 17 year olds in the adult criminal justice system and imprison this age group at a higher rate than elsewhere in Europe, contrary to the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child<sup>1</sup>. The Council of Europe have also ratified recommendations in the European Rules for Juvenile Offenders subject to Community Sanctions or Measures (June 2008)<sup>2</sup>. These recommendations further reinforce the UN Conventions but currently do not bind the courts in Scotland.

The Scottish Government is committed to giving children the best start in life and to improve the life chances of children, young people and families at risk. Tackling the causes and effects of offending by young people is key to building safe and strong communities, within which Scotland's future generation can fulfil its enormous potential.

The Reducing Reoffending Programme<sup>3</sup> was established following the publication of *Protecting Scotland's Communities: Fair, Fast and Flexible Justice* in December 2008<sup>4</sup>. The programme aims to reduce offending and reoffending and enhance public safety as well as reducing Scotland's prison population.

The Young People Who Offend strand of the programme is reviewing the current systems, processes and practices in place for dealing with the offending behaviour of 16 and 17 year olds and those presenting a risk of serious harm. The aim of the project is to reduce the number of young people (under 18) being dealt with in the criminal justice system and receiving custodial sentences. To achieve this, the project has worked with all stakeholders to:

- develop integrated processes and services across children's and adults systems;
- increase opportunities for diversion from formal measures targeted at young people;
- increase opportunities for community alternatives to secure care and custody
- develop a consistent approach to risk assessment & risk management
- better support young people who attend Court/Court processes; and
- improve services for young people in custody and reintegration to the community.

Scottish Ministers and the Convention Of Scottish Local Authorities (COSLA) commissioned a short life working group tasked with finding sustainable solutions to capacity issues within the secure estate, termed the Securing our Future Initiative (SOFI)<sup>5</sup>. The group's vision was to have no children in secure care whilst recognising that for the foreseeable future, some young people can only be managed in the controlled setting of secure care. The group made nine recommendations which were accepted in full by Scottish Ministers and COSLA.

https://wcd.coe.int/wcd/ViewDoc.jsp?id=1367113&Site=CM

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> http://www2.ohchr.org/english/law/crc.htm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/Justice/public-safety/offender-management

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2008/12/16132605/0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> http://www.sircc.org.uk/publications/documents/sofi

#### Recommendation 9 states:

'We recommend that the current good practice in retaining vulnerable young people in the Children's Hearing System and ensuring access to services appropriate to their age and stage of development, should be promoted amongst local authorities, children's hearings prosecutors and courts. We also recommend a particular focus on the development and use of community based responses to young people who are prosecuted by the courts'.

The Scottish Government is clear, that where it is possible to meet the needs and risks of high-risk young people safely and cost effectively in their communities then these opportunities should be maximised. The Scottish Government is committed to promoting and supporting community based alternatives to secure care and custody; to work constructively with the courts; to work with partners to develop robust interventions to reduce reoffending and are committed to developing, supporting and evaluating robust responses to the needs and risks posed by high-risk young people.

For those young people whose risk cannot be managed in the community, secure care offers definite benefits by providing a secure environment, much needed 'breathing space' and facilitates assessment and care planning processes. This includes young people involved in offending behaviour and those with welfare concerns. Notwithstanding such recognised benefits, it is known that many young people passing through the secure system experience very poor outcomes. SOFI found that only a minority of young people fared well after leaving secure care and that girls had especially poor experiences of secure care. Secure care performs poorly in terms of reducing offending and around a half of young people leaving secure care return within a year.

Poor outcomes are also associated with young people in custody. Each year approximately 10,000 16 and 17 year olds end up in the adult criminal justice system with limited consideration given either to diversionary opportunities suited to their age and stage of development or the appropriateness of judicial procedures and whether young people can fully engage in the process<sup>6</sup>.

- a total of 120 16 and 17 year olds were in custody on 13th May 20117;
- 2 of these young people were female; 118 were male;
- currently, approximately 88% of 16 to 20 year olds released from custody are reconvicted within two years with 45% receiving further custodial sentences.

For under 16s, an extensive range of care and support services are provided to address offending behaviour but their availability and utilisation are inconsistent. For young people age 16 and 17 the services diminish further<sup>8</sup>. Too many people who have been through the care system end up in the criminal justice system and prison:

- prisoners are 13 times more likely to have been in care as a child;
- 63% of young people have substance misuse issues on admission to prison;
- of all prisoners 80% writing, 65% numeracy; and 50% reading skills of an 11 year old;
- 25% of these young people have clinically significant communication impairment<sup>9</sup>.

A Scottish Executive study into secure care and community alternatives in 2006 concluded that high risk young people could be helped with the provision of appropriate intensive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Scotland's Choice: http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2008/06/30162955/0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> SPS – a snapshot of one day

SPS – a snapsnot of one day

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> SWIA 2006; Extraordinary Lives - www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/140731/0034643.pdf

<sup>9</sup> http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2008/06/30162955/0

community support services<sup>10</sup>, to address their problems within the community. The potential benefits of community-based services to divert high risk young people from secure care and custody have positive impacts not only on the young person him/herself and their family but also on the local authority in terms of significant financial savings.

The challenges associated with delivering robust community based measures that effectively and efficiently meet the needs of this group of young people are considerable. This guidance aims to offer local authorities and community planning partners credible alternatives and ways of working that are evidence based and designed to meet Government recommendations. It should be noted however, that the risk some young people present to themselves and others is such that secure care or custody may be the only option available to manage the risk.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Se<u>cure Accommodation in Scotland:</u>

## 2. Definitions

In Scotland, a child is defined differently in different legal contexts.

- Section 93(2)(a) and (b) of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 define a child in relation to the powers and duties of the Local Authority. Young people between the age of 16 and 18 who are still subject to a supervision requirement by a Children's Hearing are viewed as children. This reflects the fact that young people over the age of 16 may still require intervention to protect them.
- Part 5 of the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995 (as amended) deals with the definition of 'child' for the purposes of the criminal process.
- with the introduction of the Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) Act 2007, an adult is defined as someone over the age of the 16.
- at the same time, the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child applies to anyone under the age of 18.

Although these differing legal definitions can be confusing, the priority is to ensure that a vulnerable young person who is, or may be, at risk of significant harm is offered support and protection. The individual young person's circumstances and age will dictate what legal measures can be applied to protect that young person should they need it. It is essential to ensure that local areas have very clear links between their Child and Adult Protection Committees and clear guidelines in place for the transition from child to adult services. Those between 16 and 18 are potentially vulnerable to falling between the gaps and local services must ensure that staff offer ongoing support and protection, as required, via continuous single planning for the young person.

For the purposes of this guidance, a 'young person' is taken to mean anyone under age 18. A young person described as being a 'looked after child' is defined as a young person who is looked after and accommodated by the local authority.

## 3. Legal Requirements

Where a young person (under 18) is subject to a supervision requirement through the Children's Hearings System and pleads or is found guilty in a sheriff court, the sheriff is required to request advice from the Children's Hearing. The Judge may request this advice if the young person is found or pleads guilty in the High Court.<sup>11</sup>

If a young person appearing on Indictment, who is subject to a supervision requirement through the Children's Hearing System, receives a custodial sentence, secure care can be considered as an option, and should be included within the social work court report.<sup>12</sup>

If a young person is not subject to a supervision requirement but is under 17 years and 6 months, advice from and disposal by the Children's Hearing System remains an option to courts<sup>13</sup>. This could also include a secure order as an alternative to custody, if the requirements within section 70 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 are met<sup>14</sup>.

Alternatives to secure care and custody should always be considered and assessed as required under section 97 of the Children's Hearing (Scotland) Act 2011. The majority of young people can be managed within a community based setting and this should be a priority. Alternatives to consider include Intensive Support and Monitoring (ISMS).<sup>15</sup>

The report writer and court social worker should ensure that they are aware of what alternatives to custody are available to their local authority/the local authority for which they are writing the report. These options should always be explored and assessed as a priority within all reports.

If a young person who is subject to a supervision requirement through the Children's Hearings System is sentenced to or remanded in custody, either to a Young Offenders establishment or secure care, an emergency 72 hour Looked After Review should be held. <sup>16</sup>

Supervision requirements should not automatically be terminated when a young person is sentenced in court. Remaining on a supervision requirement allows for the young person's care needs to continue to be met, family work to continue and could also result in any further offences (especially if committed whilst in secure care/custody) being dealt with through the Children's Hearings System.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> section 49(3) of the Criminal Procedures (Scotland) Act 1995

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Section 208 of the Criminal Procedures (Scotland) Act 1995

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> section 49(6) of the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Section 70 (10) that the child— (a)having previously absconded, is likely to abscond unless kept in secure accommodation, and, if he absconds, it is likely that his physical, mental or moral welfare will be at risk; or (b)is likely to injure himself or some other person unless he is kept in such accommodation should be assessed for an alternative service.

<sup>15</sup> http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2008/08/05131241/0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Guidance on Looked After Children's (Scotland) Regulations 38(2) and 41(2)

## 4. Literature Review

Youth crime (covering those under the age of 21 years) accounts for more than a third (43%) of all recorded offences in Scotland. Official statistics show that it is boys who are responsible for the greater proportion of such crimes (approximately 87%).<sup>17</sup>

There is a consensus within the literature that a certain level of involvement in trivial offending behaviour by youths can be considered a normal part of the process of growing up. McIvor<sup>18</sup> argues that adolescent offending is often 'linked to a range of other risk taking behaviours which in turn are associated with the search for identity in the transition from adolescence to adulthood'.

Key messages from the 'what works?' literature in relation to preventing a range of poor outcomes for children and young people (including offending) focus on providing early and effective intervention and a strategic approach to provision of services tiered according to levels of need and the age and stage of development of the young person. The criminological literature indicates that trends in antisocial and offending behaviour tend to be age-related which suggests that different forms of intervention will be required at different stages of the life-course<sup>19</sup>. In addition, it is unlikely that tackling offending itself will be successful without a range of measures aimed at addressing wider 'psychosocial disorders' that generally accompany offending (including substance misuse, mental health problems, eating disorders, self harming, etc)<sup>20</sup>.

Andrews et al<sup>21</sup> incorporated findings from 150 research studies in their meta-analysis and concluded that reviews of recidivism rates revealed on average that appropriate intervention 'cut recidivism rates by about 50%.<sup>22</sup> This analysis, along with others, suggests that the most effective forms of intervention aimed specifically at offending behaviour are likely to reflect a series of broad practice principles known as the RNR approach. The first directing principle is that efforts should be made to match the level of service provided, as appropriate, to the assessed level of need and risk (the risk principle). A second directing principle is that a priority for intervention should be to alleviate those factors that are judged to sustain and support criminality (criminogenic need principle). In other words, intervention should be appropriately offence-focused for those involved in prolific or serious offending. A third directing principle relates to learning styles (responsivity principle). Young people change and learn in different ways and not surprisingly there is evidence to support the importance of matching the delivery of programmes and practitioner skills to the characteristics of the individual young person and their needs, including communication or learning disabilities and more complex needs.

RNR has produced evidence to suggest that effectiveness is likely to be greatest where there is:

- a focus on the nature and consequences of the offending behaviour;
- an emphasis on problem solving and behaviour change, cognitive development, personal or social skills;
- a diversity of methods of intervention:
- use of positive authority;
- an emphasis on community integration.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2005/03/31141334/13357

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> McIvor (1998)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Sampson and Laub, 1993; 2004

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Rutter and Smith, 1995

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Andrews et al, 1990

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Andrews et al, 1990, p.385

To do this in practice, a community-based wraparound approach can be seen as being the most effective. This approach, brings together, where this is possible, the efforts of significant individuals in the young person's life, where they exist, to provide a comprehensive plan for supervision. In a graduated system 'natural' resources may be supplemented by trained volunteers and as required by trained and specialist professionals as required. The approach aims to identify and build on the strengths of the young person and their family and to encourage behaviours that will reduce the likelihood of any further involvement with the youth justice system.<sup>23</sup>.

Wraparound Milwaukee<sup>24</sup> was developed as a coordinated system of community-based care and resources, initially for families and children with severe emotional, behavioural and mental health problems. The features of this care management model are the establishment of a 'provider network' that delivers a wide range of services and supervision. This model includes an individualised plan of care; a management system to ensure that services are coordinated, monitored and evaluated; a mobile urgent response team to provide crisis intervention services; a managed care approach including pre-authorisation of services based on contingency planning and service monitoring.

Outcomes for young people involved in criminal activity improved significantly, measured by the Child and Adolescent Functional Assessment Scale<sup>25</sup>, showing changes in the young person's functioning at home, at school and in the community. Reductions in re-offending rates were also encouraging<sup>26</sup>.

The research findings suggest that young people with complex difficulties, and in particular mental health problems, who are involved in offending, and then experience integrated and individualised wraparound planning within a system of care, are less likely to re-offend and spend less time in detention or other institutional provision. The model is based on the evidence that young people who are supported to stay in school, who do not run away from home, assault other people, or are not picked up by the police are likely to fare better in the long run. It attempts to address the multiple determinants of offending in a comprehensive and holistic way often lacking in traditional supervision practice.

The Wraparound Milwaukee model relies on 'core tasks' that provide a useful directing framework for all intensive supervision in the community:

- identify key 'players' in the lives of the young person and family:
- adopt a strong non-judgmental family-centred approach;
- organise a wraparound 'team' or 'network group' and facilitate a meeting (group or family conference) to produce a creative service plan and meaningful action plan;
- identify existing multidisciplinary services, assessing their usefulness to the needs of the young person and family:
- prepare a services plan with outcome indicators and resource cost as appropriate:
- assess the training needs and arrange for training of key individuals;
- prepare a crisis plan and set expectations for unconditional care;
- identify gaps and arrange to implement needed services that do not presently exist or deal with contingencies:
- manage funds flexibly and work with staff responsible for finance;
- deliver direct services as needed;
- evaluate the progress of services, quarterly reviews, modifying service plans as needed;
- prepare transition plans and long-term follow-up;
- summarise outcome data for use in programme improvement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Bruns et al, 1995

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> The Community Resources Cooperative, 1993

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Hodges, 1994

#### Gender differences

In a meta-analysis of studies exploring the criminogenic risk factors associated with adolescent offending, Simourd and Andrews<sup>27</sup> found that the same criminogenic risk factors apply equally to both boys and girls. The main risk factors identified are; anti-social attitudes, associating with anti-social peers, low parental supervision, a lack of constructive leisure activities, educational difficulties, moral beliefs, victimisation and high levels of impulsivity and risk taking.

A longitudinal survey conducted for the Home Office<sup>28</sup> compared gender differences in risk factors for offending. Across a cohort of 397 families in Cambridge, they found that factors that predicted offending more strongly for girls were related to socio-economic and child rearing factors such as; low social class and income, poor housing, poor parental supervision, lack of praise, erratic discipline, parental conflict and a general lack of interest in the child's development. In contrast factors predicting offending more strongly for boys were related to actual parental characteristics, including having nervous and poorly educated parents. Overall the study found that sisters had shorter criminal careers than brothers, an average of 4.4 years for girls compared to 6.6 years for boys and in adulthood the prevalence of offending was found to be much higher for brothers (44%) compared to only 12% for sisters.

Explanations for why girls offend less than boys point to situational factors. It is argued that in comparison with boys, girls have less exposure to risk factors. Girls tend to be more closely supervised by parents, have less unstructured leisure time and therefore less opportunity to associate with anti-social peers<sup>29</sup>.

Research also shows that girls and boys respond differently to risk factors. Whilst girls tend to 'internalise' emotional problems and display their distress via depression and self-harm, it is argued that boys are much more likely to respond to problems by 'overtly acting out behaviours, including various manifestations of delinquency. It is well established that there is a lack of suitable resources for vulnerable young people, and in particular for girls, who have complex emotional, behavioural and mental health issues. As will be seen, too many of these young people end up in secure care because of a lack of suitable alternative community-based provision.

Assessment prior to secure admission needs to be holistic and focused on the needs of the young person as specified in the GIRFEC framework. Consistency in assessment prior to admission has also been identified as a key measure to improve the quality of secure accommodation decision making<sup>30</sup>.

As girls have different pathways into offending than boys, a more detailed analysis on the different approaches to working with girls to meet their specific needs will be addressed in more detail within this guidance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Simourd and Andrews ,1994

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Farrington and Painter, 2004

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Jamieson et al, 1999

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Walker et al. 2006; Sinclair and Geraghty; Roesch-Marsh 2010

# 5. Core Principles

The principles underpinning effective alternatives to secure care and custody are summarised as:

Ser	vice
1	GIRFEC-including lead professional and consistent risk assessment/management
2	Partnership working
3	Corporate parenting
4	Family work
5	Accommodation options/supports
6	Immediacy
7	Intensive support – and crisis support
8	Monitoring/surveillance
9	Development of community opportunities
10	Exit strategies/continued support or different support arranged – if needed

Woi	Workers	
1	Positive relationship between worker and young person	
2	Consistency, flexibility and responsiveness	
3	Persistence/commitment of worker	
4	Knowledge of the needs of young people	
5	Ability to focus on the future	
6	Positive relationship with decision makers to ensure they are fully informed of services to increase their use	

Decision Makers	
1	Confidence in the service/provision
2	Presence of workers within the Court
3	Knowledge of services available

## 5.1 Service

Getting it right for every child (GIRFEC) places the child at the centre and promises much in terms of tackling the repetition and lack of coherency in working with young people and their families through use of the single shared assessment, and a joined up planning and record system. Along with the 19 actions contained in We Can and Must do Better (2007) GIRFEC addresses all of the key points contained in a decade of research and reports since the Children Scotland Act 1995, concerning –

- the role of the corporate parent;
- partnership and clarity of responsibility;
- education within a Lifelong learning agenda; and
- flexible support before during and after placement

To manage effective change, GIRFEC highlights; the importance of using a holistic human service approach; enabling a single plan to be implemented and led by one professional where key stages are mapped on an end-to-end process; bound together by a case manager into a meaningful and coherent whole; enabling different resources and styles to be matched to different cases; and developing variable forms of teamwork and organisational support for multidisciplinary contributions to the core process of case management.

GIRFEC has a number of key components:31

- a focus on improving outcomes for children, young people and their families based on a shared understanding of well-being;
- a common approach to gaining consent and to sharing information where appropriate;
- an integral role for children, young people and families in assessment, planning and intervention;
- a co-ordinated and unified approach to identifying concerns, assessing needs, agreeing actions and outcomes, based on the Well-being Indicators;
- streamlined planning, assessment and decision-making processes that lead to the right help at the right time;
- consistent high standards of co-operation, joint working and communication where more than one agency needs to be involved, locally and across Scotland;
- a lead professional to co-ordinate and monitor multi-agency activity where necessary;
- maximising the skilled workforce within universal services to address needs and risks at the earliest possible time;
- a confident and competent workforce across all services for children, young people and their families; and
- the capacity to share demographic, assessment and planning information electronically within and across agency boundaries.

#### **Lead Professional**

Under the GIRFEC approach, when two or more agencies need to work together to provide help to a child or young person and family, there will be a lead professional to co-ordinate that help. Where those working with the young person and their family have evidence that suggests a co-ordinated plan involving two or more agencies will be necessary, then a single plan should be drawn up.

The role of the lead professional is to:

- usually be the point of contact with the young person and their family for the purpose of discussing the plan and how it is working, as well as any changes in circumstances that may affect the plan:
- be a main point of contact for all practitioners who are delivering help to the child to feedback progress on the plan or raise any issues;
- make sure that the help provided is consistent with the Child's Plan, that services are not duplicated;
- work with the child and family and the practitioner network to make sure that the child and family's views and wishes are heard and properly taken into account and, when necessary, link the child and family with specialist advocacy; support the child and family to make use of help from practitioners and agencies;
- monitor how well the Single Plan is working and whether it is improving the young person's situation;
- co-ordinate the provision of other help or specialist assessments which may be needed, with advice from other practitioners where necessary, and make arrangements for these to take place;
- arrange for the agencies to review together their involvement and amend the Single Plan when necessary; and

11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2010/07/19145422/2

make sure the young person is supported through key transition points and ensure a careful and planned transfer of responsibility for these roles when another practitioner becomes the lead professional.

The lead professional will be responsible for ensuring the production of an agreed multiagency Single Plan. The plan will be based on an assessment of needs and will incorporate any current single agency plans. The plan will identify when a review is needed and the lead professional will arrange for materials to be circulated to everyone involved, especially the young person and their family where appropriate. In many occasions this will involved both adult and child care systems working together and sharing information to ensure a smooth transition.

## Assessment and risk management

GIRFEC highlights the importance of the assessment process<sup>32</sup>, which is crucial in identifying the needs and risks of young people involved in offending. This allows for individualised plans to effectively address risk and need, to manage risk effectively within the community as opposed to secure care or custody.

Assessments<sup>33</sup> need to be holistic and analytical, with actions highlighted in the plan to meet risk and need and improve outcomes for young people. Offending behaviour and criminogenic factors need to be measured and included in the plan as areas to be In Scotland, the Risk Management Authority's (RMA) rated document<sup>34</sup> highlights the different risk assessments tools available, and GIRFEC details three tools to make sense of the information collected. Professional judgement should also be used when undertaking assessment and plans to inform risk management. Guidance in relation to child and adult protection should be followed where appropriate.

Once a decision has been made about risk management arrangements, it is for the lead professional to coordinate, monitor and review these arrangements and, through liaison with the other professionals working with the child or young person, identify any changes in behaviour which would necessitate a review of the risk management arrangements. The lead professional's primary task is to make sure that all the support provided is working well, fits with involvement of other practitioners and agencies and is achieving the goals of the child's plan.

Multi agency working is fundamental to the risk management and planning process. Positive multi agency working relies as much on formal agreements as on good working relationships between practitioners. However, it is important to ensure a consistent approach across agencies so that everyone involved in the management of young people has a clear understanding of their role and responsibilities.

Risk management meetings should be included in child planning meetings at intervals as set within the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 regulations and guidance<sup>35</sup>, or on a more frequent basis as risk dictates.

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2004/10/20067/44723

<sup>32</sup> http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2010/07/19145422/2

<sup>33</sup> http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/Justice/crimes/youth-justice/reoffending

<sup>34</sup> http://www.rmascotland.gov.uk/try/rated/

## Partnership working

'No single organisation can hope to reduce the incidence of crime and tackle the underlying causes of criminal and anti-social behaviour. Local organisations need to work together to develop comprehensive solutions which achieve a permanent improvement to the communities' quality of life'<sup>36</sup>.

To ensure a GIRFEC approach is used, all agencies and professionals need to work together to meet the needs of the child. One plan should be used by everyone involved with the young person with agreed actions to meet risk and need. Partnership working underpins the principles of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 – 'working in partnership to support and protect children'.

Partnership working needs to include the young person, their family where appropriate and any relevant or significant people for that young person. Professionals should support the young person and their family, who are central to any plan devised.

The Youth Justice Board for England and Wales states that partnership working is key to keeping young people out of prison. They state that 'good partnership between the youth offending service and the Courts can make a difference at a local level' <sup>37</sup>. This is not a new concept as collective responsibility to prevent young people offending, shared by a range of public and voluntary services is essential. Evidence suggests that the more joined up 'multi-agency' teams are, the better the outcomes for young people <sup>38</sup>.

All local authorities and community partners should be working in partnership wherever possible to meet the needs of all young people. This partnership approach should be included within a young person's single plan, to ensure all risks and needs are being met to reduce involvement in offending behaviour and keeping more young people within their local communities.

## **Corporate parenting**

'Corporate parenting means the formal and local partnerships needed between all local authority departments and services, and associated agencies, who are responsible for working together to meet the needs of looked after children (this includes looked after children at home) and young people, and care leavers.'<sup>39</sup>

Being a good corporate parent means that local authorities should:

- accept responsibility for the council's Looked After children and young people;
- make their needs a priority;
- seek for them the same outcomes any good parent would want for their own children;
- consider pathways planning and transitions to independent living.

Local authorities will want to:

know how many children and young people are Looked After by your council, why they
are Looked After, that they are safe at all times and how well they are doing;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Audit Commission in the Nacro guide to Partnership Working

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Youth Justice Board <u>www.yjb.gov.uk/en-gb/News/Partnershipworkingiskeytokeepingyoungpeopleoutofprison</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Crime Concern, 'Keeping Young People Safe and Out Of Trouble', Nacro.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> http://www.lookedafterchildrenscotland.org.uk/corporateparenting/index.asp

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2004/03/19113/34732

- make sure that your schools are inclusive, aspirational for all children and young people, including those who are Looked After, and have in place strategies to ensure that Looked After children and young people are not disproportionately represented in poor attendance, exclusions, bullying and underachievement;
- actively promote and support high standards of care for children and young people, and care leavers, taking account of their cultural needs;
- actively seek high quality outcomes for your Looked After children and young people and care leavers and take responsibility for those outcomes;
- remove barriers, where possible, which prevent your Looked After children and young people and care leavers achieving the desired outcomes;
- challenge professionals to work in new ways which always promote inclusion;
- make sure that the physical, mental and emotional well-being of your Looked After children and young people and care leavers are being addressed at the earliest opportunity;
- make sure that your Looked After children and young people are given the same opportunities that any good parents would provide for their child and that you have the same expectations and aspirations as you would for your own children. Champion the needs of, and be aspirational for, your Looked After children and young people and care leavers:
- know who your care leavers are and make sure that there is appropriate support available to them;
- be certain that the services your council provides or commissions for your Looked After children and young people and care leavers are meeting their needs to the highest possible standard, including when the child is placed outwith your own services or geographical area;
- make sure that you have effective scrutiny mechanisms in place to hold officers to account for local outcomes;
- consider making a reference to improving outcomes for Looked After children and young people and care leavers in your Single Outcome Agreement, or at least make sure that their needs are recognised in your broader local outcomes and indicators and performance management system;
- work with local health board members and other key partners to make sure that services
  are scrutinised across the community planning partnerships and this includes monitoring,
  integrated working, setting shared goals and values and continuous improvement;
- make sure that all services in your authority are able to protect, support and encourage Looked After children and young people and care leavers, individually and collectively.
- promote a positive view of Looked After children and young people and care leavers, and help to raise public awareness about the care system;
- recognise and show pride in children or young person's achievements, build their confidence and defend them against unfair criticism;
- make sure that the views of children and young people and care leavers are heard and listened to, and when decisions are being made that their views are being taken into account.

## Duties of local authorities 41

There is a statutory duty (set out in Part II of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995) on all parts of a local authority to ensure that they safeguard and promote the welfare of children and young people who are looked after by them, which includes those in secure care. There is also a duty on other agencies to cooperate with councils in order to help them fulfil that duty.

However, as highlighted in *These Are Our Bairns*<sup>42</sup>, being a good corporate parent is not only a responsibility but an opportunity to improve the futures of looked after children and

<sup>41</sup> www.sircc.org.uk/publications/documents/sofi

young people and care leavers. Local authorities have a duty to prepare young people for ceasing to be looked after ("throughcare"), with transitions<sup>43</sup> and to provide advice, guidance and assistance for young people who have ceased to be looked after over school age ("aftercare"). Regulations and guidance on services for young people ceasing to be looked after came into force in April 2004. Central to this legislation is the duty to carry out an assessment of the needs of these young people. Guidance materials have been developed to support this process<sup>44</sup>.

## Family work

Current literature on risk factors for youth offending often highlights the impact of family relationships on young people in both positive and negative ways. The key issue is that young people have a context, and that context should direct the approach taken with those young people and their families.

Issues particularly likely to encourage 'problem behaviour' include poor parental supervision and discipline, family conflict, a family history of problem behaviour, and parental involvement in or attitudes that condone problem behaviour<sup>45</sup>.

Family work is appropriate when offending behaviour has some origins in family relationships and difficulties, and when the family can be actively engaged in strategies to prevent further offending. Support and Services for Parents: A Review of the Literature in Engaging and Supporting Parents concluded that 46:

- direct child development work, parent training and school based provision is most effective for primary school children;
- structured family work alongside community programmes is most effective for adolescents:
- multi-system approaches work best with older adolescents.

The research also suggests that children who are physically abused or neglected are more likely to become offenders later in life and to be arrested for juvenile violence<sup>47</sup>. Given this, young people identified as having been abused or neglected would benefit from targeted interventions to combat the likely effects of abuse. Parental abuse and neglect, while directly relevant as a risk factor for offending behaviour, may initially require intervention through a child protection route if concerns are raised that the child or young person is at risk of significant harm<sup>48</sup>. Similarly, there is a strong correlation between truancy and future offending. Preventive and early intervention practices should focus on addressing the issues which underpin non attendance, and work with families, education, other relevant professionals and the community to ensure needs are met. It should be emphasised that the complex and interrelated nature of parental neglect and abuse, and the risks associated with offending behaviour by young people, should be addressed in a holistic and integrated way. GIRFEC provides a holistic assessment of the young person's needs and strengths but on its own does not focus in depth on offending behaviour. The challenge therefore is to address the multiple needs of young people while retaining the focus on the offending behaviour by integrating GIRFEC with other specialist approaches.

15

<sup>42</sup> http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2008/08/29115839/0

<sup>43</sup> http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/Justice/crimes/youth-justice/reoffending

<sup>44</sup> http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2004/05/19357/37092

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 2002

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Support and Services for Parents : A Review of the Literature in Engaging and Supporting Parents 2008

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Farrington, 2002; Spatz Widom, 1989; Rivera and Spatz Widom, 1990

<sup>48</sup> http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2010/05/27095252/11

Family experiences play a critical role in promoting or reinforcing criminal behaviour by young people. Family work can be difficult to define and can range from general family and youth approaches through to specialist structured family work. Four broad categories of family-based interventions are associated with effective outcomes with children and young people: pre-school education programmes, home visitation provision, parent training and structured family work. Reviews of direct family work and parent training with adolescents show promising outcomes.

Families can equally have a positive influence, however, particularly as young people mature. Identification and involvement of positive family influences (or indeed positive supports outside the biological family), can increase the individual's stake in conformity, increase the cost of offending and be the trigger to prompt a moving away from crime. This investment in 'social capital' and 'human capital' is a critical factor in desistance from offending for young people<sup>49</sup>. Similarly, Laub et al<sup>50</sup> suggested that gradually increasing positive bonds linked to work and family would over time lead to a reduction in criminal activity.

Involvement of the families of young people can have further beneficial effects in terms of support for the families themselves. Young people's offending can often have an impact on families as well, in terms of worry for the young person's safety; concern about how to keep them out of trouble; targeting or stigma from neighbours and the wider community; or through victimisation of the young person. Engagement with families must recognise the fact that families will have needs in their own and should not therefore focus solely on the needs of the young person.

As family work should be included in all work with young people, service providers should:

- adopt the GIRFEC model, bearing in mind that 'Getting It Right for Every Child' may be better approached as 'Getting It Right for Every Family';
- directly address criminogenic needs as identified by the assessment process;
- ensure enough time to build relationships with the young person and their family;
- work flexibly in supporting families to develop individualised plans, ensuring partners are involved when appropriate;
- provide services in a way that can reach out to children and families, should they choose not to engage;
- ensure a variety of services are accessible to address multiple needs, and different needs at different times;
- value families believing in their fundamental ability to cope and make a difference in their lives:
- show an understanding of the challenges and be sensitive, honest, and trustworthy;
- endeavour to create equal relationship and using the family's strengths, views and knowledge alongside your own at every stage of the process.

## **Accommodation options/supports**

Research has found that young people are often remanded in custody due to homelessness or unsuitable accommodation situation. Community alternative services may need to look at having accommodation or tenancy support to prevent this situation. Young people should not be remand or sentenced to custody due to inappropriate accommodation. Local authorities need to provide suitable accommodation to meet the individual needs of the

<sup>49</sup> McNeill, Fergus and Weaver, Beth, 2010

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup>Laub, Nagin & Sampson, 1998

young person<sup>51</sup>. This may include services like intensive fostering or supported accommodation to further support the young person.

Research shows that inadequate accommodation is likely to have a significant negative impact on reoffending. There is a documented link between severe accommodation problems or homelessness and rates of recidivism<sup>52</sup>.

## **Immediacy**

It is beneficial for a worker to be present in court when a young person who is assessed as suitable for a community alternative is being sentenced, so that support is immediate and visible for the young person and the sentencing court. More information in relation to this can be found in guidance for court staff<sup>53</sup> and the National Standards for Criminal Justice Social Work<sup>54</sup>. Disposals also need to be made as quickly as possible to allow the young person to have clear understanding of the link between their offending and the outcome.

## **Intensive Support**

For some vulnerable and troubled young people, the appropriate and proportionate help that they require is an intensive package of support. The intensive nature of that support will require that it be provided by a number of agencies working together.

For some of those young people, that intensive package of support may require to be supplemented by a condition of a supervision requirement that restricts their movements and electronically monitors whether that restriction is adhered to. This can be achieved using a movement restriction condition as part of a supervision requirement with intensive support, that is ISMS<sup>55</sup>.

ISMS good practice guidance highlights the requirements needed for a successful intensive service<sup>56</sup>. An example in practice can be seen in appendix 2.

### Monitoring/surveillance

To be effective, alternatives to secure care and custody should involve some form of monitoring and surveillance. Evidence suggests services require rigorous and consistent response to non-compliance. Such responses need to ensure community safety whilst allowing for some flexibility around breaches. Non-compliance can be an opportunity for young people to learn and grow in terms of self control and keeping to commitments, and should not automatically result in secure care or custody. These approaches combine intense levels of community-based professional supervision and surveillance with a sustained focus on personal change, tackling the factors that contribute to the young person's offending behaviour, family work and bringing these together with education and training for employment, drug and accommodation services, mental health provision, life skills, leisure and voluntary sector services.

<sup>52</sup> Hagan and McCarthy, 1997;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2004/03/19113/34721

<sup>53</sup> http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/Justice/crimes/youth-justice/reoffending

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup>http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/Justice/public-safety/offendermanagement/offender/community/16910/Standards

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2008/08/05131241/0

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2009/03/11105146/0

The guidance on ISMS includes a legal means of monitoring through a Movement Restriction Condition (MRC)<sup>57</sup>. Not all intensive supports include an MRC as other forms of monitoring may be identified. The lead worker therefore needs to ensure the plan and risk assessment are up-to-date and everyone involved, especially the young person and their family, knows what is expected. This should involve a contingency/back up plan, outlining that if for example, the young person does not return home on time or make set appointments what the course of action will be. This will ensure consistency, whilst keeping the young person and the community safe.

## **Development of community opportunities**

For young people remaining in the community, all opportunities to meet identified need should be explored. As corporate parents, all community partners have a role and responsibility to meet the needs of children and young people. This should include working in partnership to address all risk factors present as highlighted in the young person's single plan, and to ensure young people have access to:

- safe environment/accommodation;
- education/employment/training;
- social inclusion;
- supportive professionals;
- positive activities/role models;
- programmes/interventions to address offending behaviour and need;
- leisure and sport; and
- positive and nurturing relationships.

Mentoring programmes provide a promising approach to supporting a reduction in youth offending. Mentoring is a more commonly-used intervention with young people to prevent, divert, and deal with involvement in or at risk of offending and antisocial behaviour than with adults. These programmes tend to focus more on social modelling rather than on reciprocal assistance or shared experience.

Tolan et al's meta-analytic review<sup>58</sup> of 39 studies published between 1970 and 2005 found a moderately positive effect of mentoring programmes in combating offending and aggression. Positive effects were stronger for programmes in which emotional support was a key component of the mentoring process, and where 'professional' development was a motivator for the mentor's participation. As a caveat to these findings, the authors note, however, that even rigorous studies lacked specific information about what constitutes mentoring activity.

## Transitions and exit strategies

Following the 'what works' research, intervention should meet the risk presented. As the risk decreases so too should the level of intervention. Since many young people involved in offending behaviour, who require alternatives to secure care and custody, have experienced poor relationships with adults reducing contact/leaving a service needs to be undertaken in a planned way. Exit strategies need to be included within the child's plan to ensure a positive ending of involvement in services, at a time that is appropriate.

Existing Scottish Government guidance<sup>59</sup> highlights the need to plan for continuity of support beyond the duration of the immediate alternative to secure/custody sentence to ensure that the foundations laid are built upon. This should include a relapse prevention period. Relapse

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2008/08/05131241/0

<sup>58</sup> Tolan et al, 2008

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2009/03/11105146/0

prevention support consolidates and sustains the progress already made and allows for a tapered exit strategy to empower young people to make the transition to independence, to take responsibility for improving their lives and reduce the likelihood of reoffending.

As part of an exit strategy a young person's support should be tapered consistently to reflect their progression and reduced needs/risks, and to aid successful transition to independence.

Integral to the successful exit of a young person is the amount and availability of support networks open to them. It is therefore extremely beneficial to the young person if their support networks are accessed and their link with external agencies is incorporated into their ongoing support planning in order for their social capital to be increased and so that relationships of conviviality can be developed and maintained<sup>60</sup>. Support planning should also look at family work, in order to ensure an increased availability of support for the young person within their extended family.

The exit process should review the achievements of the young person, possible ongoing risks and their current support networks. The young person should work with their support worker on their dis-engagement plan, to have ownership of their plan for the future, after completion of the service.

If a young person is moving from a child care service to an adult one, partnership working is essential to ensure a smooth exit from one system into the next. Currently, the requirements of services do differ and young people can struggle with expectations placed upon them. Support should be offered to overcome any issues that arise.

The Children (Scotland) Act 1995 Regulations and Guidance<sup>61</sup>, identify good practice that is still applicable when dealing with young people who are being managed within the Children's Hearings System and also in the adult courts. The guidance and Regulations state that where necessary children's and criminal justice services should be co-ordinated and agreements reached about who is the best person to complete court reports and supervise any probation/community payback orders. It may be that youth justice and criminal justice staff work together with the young people to allow a continuity of support and resources. This will also ensure critical information is shared between workers providing a greater understanding of the complexities of both systems and a smoother transition between services<sup>62</sup>. Joint arrangements, where necessary, can continue until a young person reaches 18 years of age.

## 5.2 Workers

Effective interventions are strongly influenced by effective workers who use their personal influence through quality interaction with young people (*relational principle*). Effective practitioners require skills in change management, and the policy and practice agenda needs to move towards the development of better integrated community justice and welfare provision, reflecting the importance of shared responsibility and social justice.

The 'core' conditions for effective social interventions relate to the ability of practitioners to convey accurate empathy, respect, warmth and genuineness; to establish a working alliance based on mutual understanding and explicit (written) agreement about the nature and purpose of the intervention; and to develop an approach that, as far as possible, is person-

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Fergus and Whyte (2008)

<sup>61</sup> http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2004/10/20067/44723

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/Justice/crimes/youth-justice/reoffending.

centred or collaborative. This needs to take into account the individual needs of the young person and any disabilities they may have.

Core practices identified in the effectiveness literature with adults involved in offending<sup>63</sup> suggest that the qualities of practitioners are associated with positive outcomes in reducing re-offending. These include the quality of the interpersonal relationship, the effective use of authority, anti-criminal (or pro-social) modelling and reinforcement, problem solving and accessing community resources. Empirical studies of supervision have found that the use of pro-social modelling consistently correlated with lower re-offending and tended to be most effective with young, high-risk, violent and drug-using offenders.

Research into secure accommodation has shown that is it is crucial for social workers and staff in secure units to work together to understand and support children and that really listening to children is crucial to building understanding and relationships <sup>64</sup>. In fact a wide range of research has highlighted the importance of relationships to successful social care, residential care and social work. A recent review of this literature base by the Social Care Institute for Excellence highlights the clear finding that the staff best able to work with children who demonstrate challenging behaviour are those 'who are able to demonstrate a clear commitment to children, listen to them and understand and respect them' 65.

To evaluate effectiveness, workers should be able to self-evaluate their work and services evaluate their interventions. This allows workers and services to know what they are doing well and also to identify areas for improvement. Encouraging self awareness, the ability to build on capacity to do better and to recognise strengths have been identified as positive outcomes from this process<sup>66</sup>.

### 5.3 Decision Makers

Emerging evidence from the early evaluation of the pilot of the GIRFEC approach suggests that decision making is improved by a two-fold process of strengthening individual professional values and aims, to ensure a focus around the needs of the child, and strengthening inter-professional working cultures to support multi-agency working<sup>67</sup>. Opportunities for joint training, regular supervision and a culture that encourages reflective practice, could all help to develop these positive multi- agency working relationships <sup>68</sup>.

Variation throughout Scotland in decision making practice in relation to secure care has been of concern to policy makers for a long time. Walker et al<sup>69</sup> undertook a study to provide. 'a framework to assist the decision-making process on the use of secure accommodation by children's hearings and social work departments'.

This focus on Children's Hearings and social work departments meant that Walker et al.'s study only examined the welfare route into secure accommodation. Their interviews with a focus on decision making included social work managers, children's panel chairs, and senior staff at secure units across eight different local authorities but did not include children. They found that the process of decision making usually involved two stages:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Dowden and Andrews, 2004

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Walker et al. 2006; Mooney et al. 2007; Sinclair and Geraghty 2008

<sup>65</sup> Kilpatrick et al. 2008: 9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Framework for Action – self-evaluation tool

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Scottish Government 2009

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> SCIE 2004

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Walker et al 2006

- stage One: Social work staff would make a decision about the need for a secure place and then ask a children's hearing for authorisation;
- stage Two: The secure units would then decide if a young person should be prioritised and offered a place in their unit.

At the first stage of decision making three out of the eight local authorities took a pro-active approach, attempting to avoid the use of secure accommodation by using more general screening groups to allocate various community based resources to children whose situations were beginning to deteriorate. Other local authorities saw secure accommodation as a more potentially useful part of the care plan and were less pro-active in their attempts to divert children from secure placement. This suggests that the perceived role of secure accommodation has an impact on the process of decision making.

Walker et al highlight that there are huge regional differences at stage two of the secure accommodation decision making process, for instance, local authorities out-with the central belt have much greater difficulty accessing secure places. The three local authorities with access to their own secure units make much more use of the provision then other authorities. Members of staff working in secure units in these authorities were also much more positive in their descriptions of secure accommodation and in their views of its role as part of an overall care plan. SCRA<sup>70</sup> have recently found that only 5% of children on secure authorisations had not been placed six months after authorisation. This suggests that despite the regional differences in access to secure places most children who are recommended for a secure placement now receive one.

This study concludes that decision making about secure accommodation varies greatly between local authorities and that much of this has to do with the range of other service provision that has been developed in the area and the ease of accessing secure placements. Gender has also been shown to play a significant role in decision making <sup>71</sup>. It is important to ensure that decisions about secure care are not 'resource-led' rather than needs led.

Present guidance on the use of secure care does not address the issue of evidence in relation to the level of risks presented by a young person. However recent research suggests that greater clarity and guidance are needed on the issue of evidencing risk and the secure criteria<sup>72</sup>. Evidence could include: written testimonies from relevant agencies, clearly dated logs relating to patterns of absconding and offending, detail relating to the physical and mental state of the young person and their prior history, and assessment reports. Referrals to secure care should also detail all effort to find suitable community based alternatives to secure accommodation, as stated in the Children's Hearing (Scotland) Act 2011<sup>73</sup>.

The Children's Hearing (Scotland) Act 2011 provides powers for new regulations to be made about placing a young person in secure care, including the role of the Chief Social Work Officer. It is therefore important for Chief Executives and Chief Social Work Officers to be aware of guidance about secure decision making and alternatives to secure care and custody.

Making sure that robust community alternatives are known to decision makers in court is important in influencing the decisions made about young people. Sheriffs need to know what is available, what such services entail, and how risk will be managed. Report authors need to ensure that all information is based on a full risk and need assessment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Secure authorisations in Scotland's Children's Hearings System

<sup>71</sup> Dennington and Pitts 1991; O'Neill 2001; Goldson 2002; Jane Held Consulting Ltd. 2006

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Roesch-Marsh 2010

<sup>73</sup> http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2011/1/contents/enacted

# 6. Working effectively with girls

For youth offending the same model of criminogenic risk factors apply to both boys and girls (anti-social attitudes, pro-criminal associates and peers, lack of parental supervision and unconstructive leisure time). Whilst gender is not found to be a risk factor on its own certain factors have stronger correlations for girls. These include: victimisation (which includes physical, emotional and sexual abuse), weak support networks (includes school and low parental supervision), peer influence of boys involved in offending, unsupervised leisure time, low self esteem and material deprivation.

The majority of available provisions to address offending behaviours are based on the principles of 'what works' which are derived from theories about male offending and do not necessarily meet the needs of females. To date there is a limited evidence base about 'What Works' for girls, much of the research evidence is based on anecdotal evidence<sup>74</sup>.

The emphasis on risk assessment means that girls are often considered to have a high level of need and subsequently assessed as 'high risk'. In addition a 'welfare'-based approach to female offending also means that girls are often considered to be in need of greater protection than boys. Due to the emphasis on females' domestic responsibilities and enhanced levels of vulnerability, young women are often pushed higher up the sentencing tariff. Thus official Prison Statistics for Scotland indicate that the use of custody for female offenders has risen. Young women (16-17 years old) are five times more likely to receive a custodial sentence as opposed to a community sentence, compared to young males who are only twice as likely to receive a custodial sentence in place of a community sentence.

Under the auspices of 'What Works' and assessment of risk, girls are often subject to the same intensive cognitive behavioural programming as boys. However a body of literature argues that this approach is divisive for girls because it assumes that cognitive deficits are the root to a young person's decision to offend (i.e. the problem is in their thought processes and not their social circumstances). Such interventions, usually based on male experiences take it for granted that females will be afforded the same opportunities to change. In reality, however females have fewer legitimate options in society and 'as important as enhanced thinking skills are, they can only be, at best, a prerequisite to empowering women to make better choices if the choices genuinely exist'. To

The literature argues that it is not appropriate to simplify girls' needs to discrete criminogenic factors as some of these needs are not necessarily 'treatable' dynamic factors. Interventions therefore are required that reflect the distinctiveness of female experiences. For instance generic anger management programmes are insufficient to address female needs as research shows that what prompts aggression is different between girls and boys. Girls' aggression is often tied up in gendered expectations about female sexuality. Evidence on the backgrounds of young women in custody show that for many young women feelings of unresolved grief and anger in response to experiences of abuse and neglect are triggers for the onset of offending. For many young women exposure to violence is an everyday reality and rather than being an irrational response to intimated harms, is a reasoned response and often a 'necessary means to establish respect, to protect against and pre-empt victimisation and preserve self-integrity'.<sup>77</sup>

Evidence also suggests that girls display higher rates of mental health problems with a prevalence of post traumatic stress disorder, depression and low self-esteem. Girls display

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Lisa Merone; 2009

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup>http://www.parliament.uk/briefingpapers/commons/lib/research/briefings/snsg-04334.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Worrall A, (2001)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Batchelor S, (2005)

different coping mechanisms through negative emotional behaviours such as self blame, self harm and risky sexual behaviour. Girls require a more individualised assessment process as risk factors related to recidivism are different with poor parenting, dysfunctional family environment and absconding being the greater influences.<sup>78</sup>

The consensus within the 'What Works' literature is that interventions need to become increasingly gender specific with age and should be matched to developmentally appropriate risk factors<sup>79</sup>. This would reduce the risk of girls disengaging from services which were not seen as meeting their specific needs.

- girls require a more individualised assessment process. Assessment tools and screening
  processes need to reflect the needs of girls and actuarial risk assessment tools need to be
  supplemented by other measures which explore the reasons behind problematic
  behaviour, particularly in their relation to mental and emotional health and self esteem. Indepth interviews should be undertaken to explore needs and strengths in order to create
  an individualised and effective plan and gain access to appropriate services.
- interventions for girls should be based on an approach that addresses multiple problems (physical, emotional, mental and sexual health, self-esteem/self-worth, substance abuse, victimisation and trauma) in a holistic way. This requires a particular focus on addressing behaviour problems within an interpersonal context, which is an informal, female only safe environment, that allows girls time for reflection and which will meet their learning needs.
- family and individual interventions that include a social skills training component are evidenced to be particularly effective for girls
- contact with sympathetic and understanding pro-social workers is crucial in the engagement of girls, highlighting the need for specific training for workers in areas such as gender identity and female development.
- there is mixed evidence for the use of single sex education. Numerous studies, however, have pointed to the positive benefits of single sex education for girls, although literature recommends that gender differences can be sufficiently accommodated within the mixed gender classroom setting via implementation of gender-inclusive strategies<sup>80</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> From Glasgow City Council – Effective Interventions for Girls

<sup>79</sup> www.CJSW.ac.uk

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> From Glasgow City Council – Effective Interventions for Girls

# 7. Nothing Works?

Should a young person not engage with an alternative service to secure care and custody, everything possible should be done to ensure that they do engage. The views of the young person should be taken into account but services also need to be persistent in engaging them.

If however, they are sent/sentenced to such an establishment, planning should start immediately for their return to the community. As desistance literature suggests, there are a variety of reasons why young people stop offending, and commitment to that young person should not change because of their lack of engagement. Professionals should remain involved and supportive and plan appropriately for them, following the principles of GIRFEC.

Length of sentence may influence professionals' involvement, but, initially, community based social workers should be in contact with the secure provider or the Scottish Prison Service to share information and contribute to the young person's GIRFEC plan.

If a young person is subject to a supervision requirement, this should not be terminated because they have been given a custodial sentence. Termination should be the result of full a need and risk assessment. A 72 hour looked after review should be arranged for those young people subject to a supervision requirement though the Children's Hearings System or post sentence meeting for those who are not. Remaining on supervision allows a young person to be fully supported when they return to the community.

If the young person is returning to their family home, work should be undertaken, where possible, to ensure that the family/carers can provide for their needs and reduce any future risks of re-offending. If the young person is unable to return home or is homeless, plans should be put in place to ensure adequate accommodation is available for them on release.

During their time in secure care or custody, work should be undertaken to meet their needs, as identified by their plan. Work should also be undertaken to address their offending behaviour and any criminogenic needs, as highlighted by the risk assessment. This work should continue when a young person returns to the community or if they move within the secure or prison estate.

Further information can be found in the Reintegration and Transitions Guidance<sup>81</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/Justice/crimes/youth-justice/reoffending

## 8. Finances

Currently residential establishments average £3,000 - £5,000 per week and secure care costs approximately £5,500 per week.<sup>82</sup>

There are also increases in ancillary costs for the fieldwork support for young people placed in residential settings, with estimates of up to £250 per week. 83

Over a one year period, it can cost Local Authorities approximately £260,000 for one young person to be placed in secure care, and £31, 703 for custody.<sup>84</sup>

Alternatives to secure and custody demonstrate significant cost savings:

- ISMS costs approximately £2,000 per week<sup>85</sup>
- Intensive Fostering is approximately £1,400 per week<sup>86</sup>
- Intensive Support Services average package is approximately £600 per week

The Howard League recently reported that: a child in the criminal justice system costs taxpayers over £200, 000 by age 16, whereas a young person given support to stay out costs less than £50, 000. Sending one person to prison for one year costs £45,000, where a one year community sentence costs £3,265. $^{87}$ 

As can be seen from these costings, alternative services to secure care and custody are not only shown to be in the best interest of the young person, but also to local authorities and society at large by the financial savings which can be made and the more positive outcomes for young people that can be achieved as a result.

<sup>82</sup> Scottish Government statistics 2010

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Personal Social Services Unit at the University of Kent

<sup>84</sup> SPS annual report 2009/10

<sup>85</sup> Glasgow City Council

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> Audit Scotland Report 2002

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> Howard league

## 9. Conclusion

This guidance is designed to demonstrate what robust alternatives to custody services should include, drawing on available evidence. It focuses on the need for all young people to be assessed for community alternatives as opposed to secure care and custody.

The services requirements for such schemes have been outlined, with specific focus on the different approaches needed for girls. The intensity of 'wrap round' has been shown to be effective – especially when you start working with a young person or during crisis – and the cost benefits of such schemes have been demonstrated.

The literature has shown the disadvantages some young people face, through their life histories, and how this can continue if they are placed in secure care or custody. To break this cycle, we need to offer young people a service that meets their needs, following the principles of GIRFEC, and give decision makers a robust credible alternative service, that shows positive outcomes in reducing offending.

Local authorities and community planning partnerships should start to tailor services, based on the above principles and evidence, by working in partnership, to offer young people the best possible outcomes; by protecting them and the communities in which they live; by making financial savings and ultimately meeting the Scottish Government's National priorities. If tendering for further services, criteria should be based on the best interests of the child.

# **Appendix 1**

## **Working Group Membership**

Margaret Anderson, Association Director of Social Work

Erica Clarkson, Scottish Prison Service

Matt Davies; Falkirk Council

Fiona Dyer; Scottish Government

Ian MacAulay; North Lanarkshire Council Claire McDermott; Scottish Government

Gordon Mercer; Secure Estate

Angela Morgan; Includem

Donna Straton; Glasgow City Council

Linda Robb; National Youth Justice Practice Development Team

Chris Wright; Dundee City Council

# **Appendix 2**

## **Alternative Services**

## **Intensive Specialist Fostering**

An intensive specialist foster care placement can be a direct alternative to secure accommodation for a young person as part of a wrap round service<sup>88</sup>. A foster placement can offer a nurturing, safe environment where a young person can experience family life, positive role models and unconditional positive regard. The important factors are trusting, reliable relationships with consistent adults, who can offer personal acceptance and stability. To enable this the foster carer requires a good support structure with a 24/7 dedicated support system, security and training to understand and manage challenging behaviour.

Within a trusting relationship a young person can talk through and start to make sense of traumatic events in the past, they can have an understanding of what a family can be like and realise that the neglect, abuse or trauma was not their fault. This can assist emotional and personal development and help them develop more secure attachment patterns.

Research has shown that a foster placement has a greater chance of being successful if a young person wants to be there<sup>89</sup>. This is important to remember in the matching process, and it is also important that foster carers are skilled in welcoming and engaging with young people during the introduction period.

Young people will make their own choices but it is important that they make informed choices; a foster placement is an opportunity to support a young person to develop skills in self control within a community setting. Life lessons can be used in real life situations to support a young person to understand consequential thinking and problem solving, whilst learning about socially acceptable behaviour. In this way the young person can feel worthwhile and that they can make a positive contribution to society.

Within a family setting a foster carer can respond to a young person's emotional age, they can offer opportunity for a young person to experience elements of their child hood that they have missed in a safe and accepting environment. This gives opportunity for the carer to nurture the young person and build their resilience. Young people with attachment difficulties may feel that the only way they can keep themselves safe is by being in control. A family placement offers the opportunities for young people to take control of their lives within safe boundaries. Carers need to be able to manage behaviours without making the young person feel rejected or controlled.

A specialised fostering service for young people with serious difficulties including offending - Community Alternative Placement Scheme (CAPS) – was evaluated with positive results. The scheme is for children deemed to be "close to secure care" to be looked after by specialist foster carers. The evaluation found that, over two years, 20 young people with CAPS were "on average doing no better and no worse" than a comparative sample of 20 others who had been admitted to secure accommodation <sup>90</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Walker M, Hill M, Triseliotis (2005) Fostering and secure care: An evaluation of the community alternative Placement Scheme.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> Sinclair I, Wilson K, Gibbs I (2004) Foster placements: Why they succeed and why they fail. Jessica Kingsley Publishers

<sup>90</sup> Audit Scotland Report, 2002 - http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/work/central\_national.php?year=2002

When making the decision about placing a young person in a foster placement consideration has to be given to the support network required. If the young person has education or mental health needs, appropriate resources need to be in place to support the foster placement as foster carers cannot work in isolation.

## **Intensive Support and Monitoring Service (ISMS)**

As an alternative to secure care, Intensive Support and Monitoring (ISMS)<sup>91</sup> was introduced in Scotland in 2008. The use of such a service varies across the country, with some Local Authorities not using the service.

Data from SERCO shows that between April 2009 – March 2010 12 Local Authorities had at least one young person subject to an ISMS with a MRC. This involved 30 young people. Although other Local Authorities may also have an ISMS service in place, this data demonstrates the need to increase the use of alternatives services throughout Scotland.

Intensive Support and Monitoring Service (ISMS) is part of a disposal for Children's Hearings to use as a direct community alternative to secure accommodation. Young persons aged 12 or over, receive an intensive, tailored, multi-agency support package. Where necessary a young person can also be subject to Movement Restriction Condition, requiring the young person to remain at home or some other specified location for up to 12 hours per day, monitored by an electronic tag.

## Glasgow ISMS service

The programme, lasting approximately 3-6 months, tends to involve around 20-25 hours of multi-agency service input per week, including one-to-one community intensive support, provided by Includem, Education, Social Work and specialist support e.g. addictions and mental health services.

ISMS has been comprehensively evaluated and has been proven as an effective way of working with high-risk young people. Here is a summary of key findings:

- ISMS is effective at reducing frequency and seriousness offending for the vast majority of young people. An evaluation of the ISMS service in Glasgow showed that offending levels reduced by more than half during an ISMS Order and that these positive outcomes are sustained 2 years after leaving the service.
- ISMS slightly reduces indicators of risk of re-offending. But residual risk levels suggest that appropriate post-ISMS support is crucial in maintaining positive outcomes. Within Glasgow, ISMS reduced offending by 50%.
- ISMS helps to reduce use of secure accommodation for young people admitted through the Children's Hearing system. In Glasgow 2008/9 secure admissions were 45% lower than before the service commenced.

#### ISMS as an alternative to remand

often short periods of time, Glasgow looked at developing a new service to offer ISMS (without the electronic monitoring element) as an alternative option to Sheriff's through Glasgow Sheriff Court. As ISMS in Glasgow positively impacted on the numbers of young people accessing Secure Care via the Children's Hearing system, the increased availability of beds meant that this was a viable option increasingly being used by Sheriffs for remands.

In response to the significant numbers of young people aged under 18 being remanded for

<sup>91</sup> http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2008/08/05131241/0

The service targets young people under the age of 18 for whom the Procurator Fiscal is opposing Bail and is heavily based on the standard ISMS model of service. This is irrespective of their legal status within the Children's Hearing system although those subject to compulsory measures of care (Section 70, Children's (Scotland) Act 1995) are in the priority group.

In most cases the risk assessment (Youth Level of Service/Case Management Inventory) rates the young person as lower risk than those engaged with ISMS via the Children's Hearing system thus the intensity of the intervention reflects this. The main partners are Includem, Re-generation Agencies, the Forensic Child and Adolescent Mental Health service, Community Addiction Teams and Strathclyde Police.

Following a small scale pilot, the ISMS as an Alternative to Remand Service (hereafter referred to as ATR) began in September 2009 and was evaluated after 6 months. The key findings were as follows:

- 1. the ISMS ATR service has made a promising start and there is sufficient evidence of effectiveness for ISMS ATR to continue.
- 2. offending was reduced by 46% whilst on the order, with a large number of charges accrued while on ISMS relating to administrative offences only (beach of bail / curfew etc.). Young people on Standard Bail, or Bail with other conditions did not reduce their offending to the same extent (26%).
- 3. the estimated net savings of ISMS ATR for this evaluation period were £420,671, projected to around £1 million or more per annum by the second year of operation.
- 4. despite this demonstrable progress, too many young people on ISMS ATR still end up being remanded at some point or receive a custodial sentence at the end of their order.

The service is aimed at all young people aged under 18 for whom Bail is being opposed. The scheme <u>only</u> works with young people for whom bail is being opposed to ensure that resources are directed at the young people who need the most support. This applies to Summary and Petition Hearings in the Sheriff Court only.

Aims and objectives of this model includes:

- to reduce the proportions of young people admitted to secure on remand
- to reduce the frequency and seriousness of offending by young people under 18 who are dealt with by the adult Criminal Justice System
- to ensure that young people at risk of remand are involved in some form of education, training or employment
- to improve outcomes for young people in relation to other needs and risks, such as substance misuse, mental health and accommodation

## Bail Packages For Young People At Risk Of Remand

For a bail package to be successful in ensuring the successful completion of bail, the available options should be a tiered approach that is aimed the assessed level of need.

The different tiers would be as follows:

- 1. Standard Bail
- 2. Bail with conditions (i.e. curfew or no contact conditions);
- 3. Bail Supervision (current programme in place with the requirement to attend up to three weekly appointments);
- 4. Bail with package looking at different levels of contact (i.e. number of hours per week that they attend either programmes or individual work with support services);
- 5. Bail with package and other conditions;

## **Community Payback Orders**

Provision has been included in the Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2011 for the Court to impose a Community Payback Order (CPO)<sup>92</sup> on a young person, who has committed an offence, which would otherwise be punishable by imprisonment. Where such an Order is made for a young person under 18 years of age a supervision requirement must be imposed, subject to the Court being satisfied that the local authority will be in a position to support and rehabilitate the young person.

Where 16/17 year olds (who are on supervision through the children's hearing system) are dealt with in the adult justice system, the effectiveness of Community Payback Orders should be supported by effective interventions which meet their needs as defined by GIRFEC in line with the principles and research highlighted in these guidelines. The objective is to mitigate against breach of order due to failure to meet needs and increased likelihood of imprisonment. This may require the development of new systems and protocols between adult justice and children and families/youth justice services.

## **Intensive Probation Unit, Inverclyde**

Encouraging findings on the use of intensive interventions, without electronic monitoring, within Scotland are reported by Jamieson (2000) in relation to the Intensive Probation Unit (IPU) delivered by NCH in Inverclyde. The IPU is described as a community-based alternative to custody, aimed at 16 to 21 year-olds who are at a high risk of receiving a custodial sentence based on their seriousness and history of offending. The intervention was delivered through modular groupwork following the recommendations of effective practice. The interventions were aimed at addressing criminogenic needs such as violence and substance use. After a follow-up period, of around 18 months on average, it was found that there was a 24% reduction in convictions in the IPU group compared with the group that received custody. On the basis of these findings, it appears that the provision of intensive support with a group of high risk offenders was successful in reducing recidivism in comparison to a similar group who were given custodial terms<sup>93</sup>.

#### **Third Sector Services**

## Includem

Includem focuses exclusively on the highest risk most difficult to place young people in the Children's Hearing and Court systems. Includem provides Community Intensive Support Services for chaotic young people who have a range of vulnerabilities and complex needs including persistent offending. This service is based upon the same principles applied to the intensive support provided as part of an ISMS package undepinned by a robust research and evidence based practice framework and toolkit "A Better Life". Support levels and additional service input varies depending on the individual young person's needs and risk assessment with the fundamental features of the model being:

- No screening out of referrals on basis of problem behaviours: i.e. violence/alcohol/sexually harmful behaviours
- One to one relationship based support
- Intensive planned and responsive delivery at times of greatest vulnerability and least access to other services

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup>www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/Justice/public-safety/offender-management/offender/community/16910/Standards

<sup>93</sup> http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2009/03/11105146/0

- 24/7 crisis response for young people and their carers
- Persistence in engagement
- Transitional support beyond legal requirement

Providing a direct alternative to secure/custody and return from residential placements these services aims to maintain or return young people safely in the community, reducing the use of secure accommodation and custody.

### Up-2-Us

Up-2-Us resource Team provides a purchased service to local authorities to support highrisk young person at transition or as a preventive measure. This project offers an intensive support service tailored to individual need and this includes flexible working arrangements and 24/7 service access. The Resource Team also provides registered accommodation in the form of respite and wrap around care packages in a tenancy supplied by the referring authority and developed in collaboration with the referrer. Family and parent liaison is an element of all Up-2-Us services, unless there is a reason not to do so. This is agreed the precise role on the basis of age, need and vulnerability.

Up-2-Us also have the Time For Change project, to support girls leaving secure care and custody or as an alternative to such. This project offers relationship based support within a holistic, strength-based model. The service is on an outreach basis and includes elements of practical support, partnership, one to one focussed work and 24/7 crisis access.

#### Action for Children

The service supports:

- young people aged between 11 and 17 years who are either looked after at home or accommodated by the Local Authority subject to either S25 or S70 of the Children (Scotland Act) 1995 and whose placement is at risk
- young people returning to area from out of area placements

Each young person is allocated a Key Worker to:

- co-ordinate delivery of detailed arrangements as set out in the Child's Plan
- directly deliver and support learning and therapeutic interventions as set out in the Child's
- · contribute to care planning
- be responsible for proactive communication with others with responsibilities for elements of the Child's Plan
- provide the Lead Professional and Core Group with a weekly update of engagement and progress of young person

In Tayside, Action for Children runs an alternative to custody project. The aims of this project include: Offering Courts and the Social Work Departments a constructive alternative to custody for 16-25 years olds. To enable users to challenge their offending behaviour and its consequences in terms of the emotional, financial and physical damage to victims. To enable users to identify problem areas in their lives and to empower them to make better choices and decisions.

#### **Venture Trust**

The "Living Wild – Chance for Change" programme helps people (aged 16-30) subject to Community Payback or Probation Orders throughout Scotland to make positive changes in their lives and reduce offending behaviour. The programme consists of a 3-phase personal development programme offering 12-18 months' support per participant, centred around an intensive wilderness personal development journey in the Northwest Highlands. Participants from any of Scotland's 32 local authority areas can be referred to the programme by Sheriffs (as a condition of sentence), or criminal/youth justice social work teams and third sector partners (to complement existing orders, but not as a condition of sentence). Although some participants have previously been in the Children's Hearing System and/or Secure, this programme is not generally a direct alternative to them, because participants must be 16 or older.

#### **Quarriers**

Quarriers delivers a range of services targeted at vulnerable children, young people and their families, including young people at risk of becoming looked after or involved with offending behaviours and the criminal justice system and young people who are at immediate risk of secure care and custody. These services include early intervention family support projects, short break fostering and residential care projects, education and school support, residential and residential school care for children and young people, a children's rights service, a broad range of youth housing projects and a youth justice service.

### Barnardo's Scotland

Barnardo's Scotland operates a number of services across Scotland offering support and intervention to children, young people and families involved in anti-social or offending behaviour. All services are outcome focused and delivered in partnership with local authorities and other agencies to address risk and need and provide and contribute to a comprehensive Care Plan. Barnardo's Scotland resources include:

- Early Intervention and Diversion Services offering individual, parent/carer and family work to reduce risks of offending and improve individual resilience and parenting skills;
- Intensive Intervention and Support Services offering intensive packages of support and programmes of intervention to young people at risk of secure accommodation or custody as a result of their persistent and/or serious offending behaviour;
- 'Sexually Harmful Behaviour' Intervention Services offering intervention to young people whose sexual behaviour is harmful to others, support and guidance for families and carers and consultancy and tailored training to professionals working with children with sexually harmful behaviour.

## **Appendix 3**

## **Pilots**

## **Aberdeen**

Aberdeen City has developed a partnership approach to provide alternatives to secure accommodation. Voluntary sector agencies have agreed to provide specific components of an intensive support service in collaboration with local authority partners that will be coordinated through child's planning meetings. These meetings will be chaired by the appropriate level of staff depending on the level of risk that the child or young person presents.

At the meeting all agencies will be represented and put together the single plan that can be presented to panel members should a movement restriction condition (MRC) be required. Alternatively, if an MRC is not deemed necessary, an intensive support service can still be provided to prevent the level of risk escalating.

The service has been designed on the basis of evidence gathered across Scotland over the past few years on both ISMS and the wider Youth Justice context.

## **Dumfries and Galloway**

Intensive Fostering Support in Dumfries and Galloway provides community-based alternative to non local authority residential placements for young people 12-18 years who present with challenging behaviour and are at risk.

The objectives of Intensive Fostering Support are:

- provide family placements with highly skilled Foster Carers;
- as a component of intensive support provide a comprehensive support service for Intensive Foster Carers that includes ongoing professional supervision and training;
- promote multi-agency and professional care planning and partnership working in the best interests of young people receiving the service;
- · support and enable young people to experience family living;
- encourage young peoples' participation in decision making;
- support appropriate contact between young people and their birth families and communities.

It is envisaged that young people referred for Intensive Fostering Support will be in the 12 – 18 year age range and be identified as presenting challenging behaviour that places them at risk of residential care, continued residential care or in some instances secure care.

### **East Ayrshire**

The East Ayrshire 'Turning the Corner' Project has been created as an Alternatives to Secure Care & Remand service.

Aim of the Project

to reduce the incidence of admission to secure care and remand for young people aged
 17 and under within East Ayrshire

## Objectives of the Project

- to enhance the provision of highly intensive support for young people that reduces the likelihood of their being admitted to secure care or remand;
- to provide highly intensive support that enables young people to be discharged earlier from secure care or other forms of provision (for example residential school);
- to develop and implement an Intensive Support & Monitoring Service for East Ayrshire.
- to fulfil the core aim and all of the above objectives, to develop intensive support services that offer 7 day, extended hours, and crisis response provision

## **North Ayrshire**

North Ayrshire are addressing their alternatives to secure care and custody by developing their current services of: court notes at point of a young person's appearance, clear outline of nature of alternatives to remand, representation in the court, presentations to Procurator Fiscal and Faculty of Advocates, cumulating in reduced numbers in the secure estate.

To do this, they have done the following:

- recruitment of 1 Qualified Social Worker to bridge interfaces between Criminal Justice and Youth Justice and the use of mentors/session staff for added support.
- events for Social Services Staff and multi-agency partners to include wider stakeholders
  e.g. Sheriffs/Advocates to showcase what works, how we can do this and highlight best
  and less effective practice in terms of young people.
- identify staff within Children and Families and Criminal Justice who would have weighted youth justice case loads and support the delivery of this with a specialised targeted training agenda.
- spot Purchase specialist placement/respite as an alternative to remand.

## **South Ayrshire**

South Ayrshire Council's pilot included increasing the range and type of support available to young people who may become involved in the court system or fit secure criteria due to their risky behaviour. The aim of the pilot was to reduce the number of young people subject to secure care or remand when appearing through the adult Court system, or Children's Hearings System.

South Ayrshire Councils aimed to:

- offer an additional crisis response for young people who are offending;
- offer intensive support monitoring service;
- increase the number of young people assessed of ISMS;
- reduce the number of requests for secure from the Children Hearing System;
- ensure the number young people accessing secure remain low;
- develop relationship with the courts and be able to offer a credible community based support;
- have a positive impact on those particular young people at risk of being remanded in custody or secure care by offering and directly engaging them in community-based support options.

To do this, they appointed 2 additional staff members dedicated to providing support directly to young people to address their risky behaviour and offending.

- they will collate and present known background information regarding existing and available supports and intervention information and presented to Court/solicitors/PFs at point of court appearance for the young person;
- theses posts will have the ability to work directly and immediately engage, support and coordinate the community. This will be based on a support plan, in conjunction with key others, by providing direct input and intervention in the short to medium term; ensuring that all available support are engaged and coordinated during the period of engagement;
- the post will assess for ISM and work intensively with the young person and the family across this period;
- the workers will support young people in crisis to reduce the likelihood of young people engaging in risky behaviour by arranging a 7 day a week support package of care where appropriate;

For those young people who cannot remain in the community: South Ayrshire:

- "spot-purchase" emergency crisis care placement with specialist provider to provide emergency accommodation and care, supervised up to 24/7 basis, within or out with the local community, to avert the need for remand/secure provision.
- provide 24 hour support for the ISMS.
- the use of sessional staff to provide additional staff hours to enable bespoke support and care for young people, targeting evening and weekend contact, to ensure adequate levels of contact, support and supervision.

## **Bibliography**

Andrews, D., Zinger, I., Hoge, R., Bonta, J., Gendreau, P. and Cullen, F. (1990) 'Does correctional treatment work? A clinically relevant and psychologically informed meta-analysis', *Criminology*, vol 28, pp 369-404.

Batchelor S, (2005), 'Prove me the bam!' Victimization and agency in the lives of young women who commit violent offences in Probation Journal vol 52(4); (pg. 358-375)

Bruns, E., Burchard, J. and Yoe, J. (1995) 'Evaluating the Vermont system of care: outcomes associated with community-based wraparound services', *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, vol 4, pp 321-39.

Carney, M. and Buttell, F (2003) 'Reducing juvenile recidivism: evaluating the wraparound services model', *Research on Social Work Practice*, vol 13, pp 551-67.

Chapman, T. and Hough, M. (1998) *Evidence Based Practice: A Guide to Effective Practice*, London: Home Office.

Crime Concern, 'Keeping Young People Safe and Out Of Trouble', Swindon: NACRO/Crime Concern.

Daniel, B., and Wassell, S. (2002) *Adolescence: Assessing and Promoting Resilience in Vulnerable Children*, Volume 3. London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.

Dennington, J. and Pitts, J. (eds.) (1991) *Developing Services for young people in crisis*. London: Longman.

Dowden, C. and Andrews, D. (2004) 'The importance of staff practice in delivering effective correctional treatment: a meta-analytic review of core correctional practice', *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, vol 48, no 2, pp 203-14.

Farrington, D. and Painter, K. (2004), <u>Gender differences in risk factors for offending</u>, RDS Research Findings 196. London: Home Office

Farrington, 2002; 'Developmental criminology and risk focused prevention' in M. Maguire, R. Morgan and R. Reiner (eds) *The Oxford Handbook of Criminology,* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Goldson, B. (2002) *Vulnerable on the inside: Children in Secure and Penal Settings.* London: Children's Society.

Hagan and McCarthy, (1997); *Mean Streets. Youth Crime and Homelessness*: Cambridge University Press.

Hodges, K. (1994). *Child and Adolescent Functional Assessment Scale*, Ypsilanti, MI: Eastern Michigan University.

Jamieson J, McIvor G, Murray C (1999), *'Understanding offending among young people'*: Social Work Research Findings No. 37, Central Research Unit, Scottish Executive

Jane Held Consulting Ltd (2006) *Qualitative Study: The Use by Local Authorities of Secure Children's Homes.* Research Report 749. Nottingham: DFES

Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2002), *Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion*; Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Kilpatrick, R; Berridge, D; Sinclair, R; Larkin, E; Lucas, P; Kelly, B and Geraghty, T (2008): Working with challenging and disruptive situations in residential child care: Sharing effective practice; Social Care Institute for Excellence

Laub, J.H, Nagin & Sampson, R.J, (1998) 'Trajectories of Change in Criminal Offending: Good Marriages and the Desistance Process' in F.T Cullen; J.P Wright & K.R Blevins (eds) *Taking Stock: The Status of Criminological Theory*, Volume 15. London: Transaction Publishers.

McAra and McVie (2010) Youth crime and justice: Key messages from the Edinburgh Study of Youth Transitions and Crime, Criminology and Criminal Justice, 2010 10: 179.

McIvor G (1998) Children Young people and crime in Britain and Ireland: From Exclusion to Inclusion -1998; *Exploring diversity: understanding and responding to offending among young women and girls*; Edinburgh: Scottish Executive.

McNeill, F. and Whyte, B. (2007) *Reducing Reoffending: Social work and community justice in Scotland*. Devon: Willan Publishing.

McNeill, Fergus and Weaver, Beth (2010) Changing Lives? Desistance Research and Offender Management. Project Report. Scottish Centre for Crime and Justice Research, University of Glasgow, Glasgow.

Merone, Lisa, 2009, Youth Justice Research and Development Team: Glasgow; Glasgow City Council.

Mooney, A., Statham, J. and Storey, P. (2007) *The Health of Children and Young People in Secure Settings.* London: Thomas Coram Research Unit

O'Neill, T. (2001) Children in Secure Accommodation: A Gendered Exploration of Locked Institutional Care for Children in Trouble. London: Jessica Kingsley

Personal Social Services Unit at the University of Kent

Rivera and Spatz Widom, (1990) 'Childhood victimisation and Violent Offending' in J.A Siegel & L.M. Williams (eds) *The Relationship Between Child Sexual Abuse and Female Delinquency and Crime: A Prospective Study.* London: Sage

Roesch-Marsh, A. (2010) Crossing the 'threshold of risk': A study of local secure accommodation decision making in Scotland. Unpublished PhD Thesis, University of Edinburgh.

Rutter, M.J and Smith, D.J (1995) *Psychological Disorders In Young People: Time Trends and their Causes.* John Wiley & Sons.

Sampson and Laub, 1993; *Crime in the making; Pathways and turning points through life.* Cambridge MA; Harvard University Press.

Social Care Institute for Excellence (SCIE) (2004) Learning Organisations: A Self-Assessment Resource Pack. London: SCIE.

Scottish Executive, 2006; Secure Accommodation in Scotland, Its Role and Relationship with alternative services; Edinburgh; Scottish Government

Scottish Government (2009) Securing our Future: A Way Forward for Scotland's Secure Estate, A response from Scottish Government and COSLA

Scottish Government, 2009; *Intensive Support and Monitoring*, Edinburgh. Scottish Government

Scottish Government statistics bulletin 2010; Scottish Government, Edinburgh. Scottish Government

Simourd, L. A and Andrews, D.A (1994) *Correlates of Delinquency: A Look at Gender Differences.* Forum on Correctional Research 6, 26-31

Sinclair, R. and Geraghty, T. (2008) *A review of the use of secure accommodation in Northern Ireland.* National Children's Bureau

Sinclair I., Wilson, K. and Gibbs, I, (2004); Foster placements: Why they succeed and why they fail. Jessica Kingsley Publishers

Spatz Widom, C (1989) Research on Women and Girls in the Justice System: National Institute for Justice.

Scottish Prison Service annual report 2009/10; Scottish Prison Service; Edinburgh

Social Work Inspectorate for Scotland; 1996

Support and Services for Parents : A Review of the Literature in Engaging and Supporting Parents (2008)

The Community Resources Cooperative, 1993

The Nacro guide to Partnership Working; Community Safety Practice Briefing

Tolan et al. (2008) Mentoring Interventions to Affect Juvenile Delinquency and Associated Problems, The Campbell Collaboration

Walker, M., Hill, M., and Triseliotis, (2005); Fostering and secure care: An evaluation of the community alternative Placement Scheme.

Walker, M., Barclay, A., Hunter, L., Kendrick, A., Malloch, M., Hill, M. and McIvor, G. (2006) Secure Accommodation in Scotland; Its Role and Relationship with 'Alternative' Services. Edinburgh: Scottish Executive.

Worrall A, (2001) 'Girls at risk? Reflections on changing attitudes to young women's offending': Probation Journal. June 2001; 48 (pg 86-92)

Youth Justice Board, Youth Resettlement, A Framework for Action; London; Youth Justice Board



© Crown copyright 2011

ISBN: 978-1-78045-261-6 (web only)

APS Group Scotland DPPAS11784 (06/11)